# CHANGE MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES USED BY AON MINET INSURANCE BROKERS LIMITED (KENYA)

KIBANGA, SUSAN W.

A MANAGEMENT RESEARCH PROJECT FOR THE DEGREE
OF MASTER OF BUSINESS ADMINISTRATION (MBA - HUMAN
RESOURCES MANAGEMENT) SCHOOL OF BUSINESS,
UNIVERSITY OF NAIROBI.



#### **DECLARATION**

This project is my original work and has not been submitted for award of a degree in any other university.

Signed

Duty

Kibanga, Susan W.

Date 21/11/08

This project has been submitted for examination with my approval as a university supervisor.

Signed

Prof. K'Obonyo, Peter O.

School of Business

University of Nairobi

Date 24/11/2008

#### **DEDICATION**

To my loving, patient and caring husband Patrick Kihato Mwangi, to my parents Dr. and Mrs. Kibanga Githiru who encouraged me to attain a masters degree, to my sister Lilian Kibanga, to my brother Paul Kibanga and to my nephew John Kimani – may you grow up to love and enjoy studying.

#### **ACKNOWLEDGMENT**

I sincerely acknowledge my husband Kihato for the moral support, encouragement, patience and being there for me, for his patience, love and support as I studied throughout the Masters Degree Program. I acknowledge my parents who constantly checked up on my progress and encouraged me on. I acknowledge my sister Lilian and brother Paul who ran all my errands when I was in class.

I also acknowledge Professor K'Obonyo for his insightful guidance and time he dedicated to see this project to completion, for the inspiration that kept me going.

Also thanked are my colleagues in school of business, the management of Aon Minet Insurance Brokers Limited, especially the CEO Mr. Joe Onsando, for their support and the information they willingly provided. This research would not have been successful without you.

Lastly, I thank the Almighty God who has been so good to me throughout my life and his grace which has been overly sufficient. His faithfulness and loving kindness has brought me this far.

## ABBREVIATIONS

CEO Chief Executive Officer

ADKAR Awareness, Desire, Knowledge, Ability and Reinforcement

SIC Standard Industrial Classification code

NPS Net Promoter Score

GPGs Global Practice Groups

#### **ABSTRACT**

The study aimed at establishing the change management strategies used by Aon Minet Insurance Brokers Limited in implementing the business segmentation process. The Business segmentation process is a relatively new concept in brokerage firms within Kenya. The concept works on the premise of creating business affinity groups, in which clients who are in the same industry are classified. The creation of business segments enables an organisation to be more focused on delivering not only the required services to clients, but also add value to their services by providing informed products and services of the affinity groups.

The objectives of this study were to determine the change management strategies used by Aon Minet in the implementation of business segmentation process. A case study approach was used. The respondents were 8 senior managers who formed the task force in the implementation process. Primary data was collected through interviews. The data was analysed using content analysis.

It was established that Aon Minet Insurance Brokers Limited had systematically undertaken specific steps before implementing the business segmentation process. Effective communication of the concept to the employees was a key activity in the pre-implementation stage. It was noted that at the initial stages of implementing the business process, most of the staff were sceptical about the whole process. The management had to put in place strategies to positively change this negative attitude and gain acceptance from the staff. Such strategies included: training, team building sessions and regular contact meetings between divisional heads and their staff. The researcher noted that the Kurt Lewin change model was primarily used.

The findings are invaluable to any organisation in implementing new changes. The researcher also recognises the limitation of the study and suggests further areas of research.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

| DECL  | ARATIONi                                   |
|-------|--|
| DEDI  | CATIONii                                   |
| ACKI  | NOWLEDGMENTiii                             |
| ABBE  | REVIATIONSiv                               |
| ABST  | **************************************     |
|       |  |
| CHA   | PTER ONE                                   |
| INTR  | ODUCTION1                                  |
| 1.1   | Background 1                               |
| 1.1.1 | Change process                             |
| 1.1.2 | Aon Minet Insurance brokers Ltd            |
| 1.1.3 | The concept of Business Segmentation6      |
| 1.2   | Statement of the Problem                   |
| 1.3   | Research Objective                         |
| 1.4   | Importance of the Study                    |
|       |  |
| CHA   | PTER TWO                                   |
| LITE  | RATURE REVIEW10                            |
| 2.1   | Introduction                               |
| 2.1.1 | Dynamic Conservatism Theory                |
| 2.1.2 | Individual Change Management Theory        |
| 2.1.3 | Organizational Change Management Theory    |
| 2.1.4 | The Columbo Change Theory                  |
| 2.1.5 | The theory of Transitional Phenomena       |
| 2.1.6 | Resistance to Change                       |
| 2.1.7 | Firmographics Business Segmentation Theory |
|       |  |
| CHAJ  | PTER THREE                                 |
| RESE  | ARCH METHODOLOGY20                         |
| 3.1   | Introduction                               |
| 3.2   | Research Design                            |
| 3.3   | Data Collection                            |

| 3.4   | Data Analysis  | 20 |
|-------|--|----|
| CHA   | PTER FOUR  |    |
| DATA  | A ANALYSIS, FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION                            | 21 |
| 4.1   | Introduction   | 21 |
| 4.2   | Analysis and Findings  | 21 |
| CHA   | PTER FIVE  |    |
| SUM   | MARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS                          | 31 |
| 5.1   | Introduction   | 31 |
| 5.2   | Summary and Conclusions  | 31 |
| 5.2.1 | Steps in the Process of Implementation                         | 31 |
| 5.2.2 | Communicating the Concept to the Employees and Buy in          | 32 |
| 5.2.3 | Objectives of the Business Segmentation Process                | 32 |
| 5.2.4 | Strategies for Maintaining the Newly Created Business Segments | 33 |
| 5.2.5 | Experiences and Perception of Employees                        | 33 |
| 5.3   | Suggestions for Further Research                               | 34 |
| 5.4   | Recommendations for Policy and Practice                        | 34 |
| 5.5   | Limitations of the Study                                       | 35 |
| REFE  | ERENCES  | 36 |
| APPE  | ENDIX 1: COVER LETTER  | 39 |
| ADDE  | MDIV 2. INTERVIEW CHIDE  | 40 |

## LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Reasons for implementing Business Segmentation Process

Table 2: Stages in the Business Segmentation Process

Table 3: Challenges during implementation

#### **CHAPTER ONE**

#### INTRODUCTION

## 1.1 Background

Insurance brokerage companies are becoming more proficient at managing their workforce. In deed, the best ones are skilled at developing and deploying talent in ways that continuously grow employees' experience, stretch their abilities, and enable higher performance. Creating a human capital management strategy that promotes talent mobility across jobs and organizational boundaries is the new imperative for companies seeking competitive advantage through their workforce (Samuel 2001). But few companies have reached this place of developing and moving talent around the organization to meet specific business objectives. While they know how to recruit, retain, and replace, they struggle with one of the most important factors in managing talent and providing opportunities to achieve, move, and grow within the company.

In part, the above situation has developed because the past decade it has been difficult for organizations trying to manage their workforce. During the booming "dot com" era, companies had to compete aggressively for the talent needed to support their rapidly growing business. When the bubble burst and budgets dried up, they frantically had to scale back, leading to layoffs and then overworked employees (Bezos 2001). Today, companies are thinking about hiring again to take advantage of new market opportunities and economic growth. Still, they remain wary about hiring too much, too fast. This has forced most business leaders to take a close look at business needs against their existing talent and become smarter in their human capital decisions.

Strategic management is the art and science of planning, formulating, implementing and evaluating cross-functional decisions that will enable an organization to achieve its objectives. It is the process of specifying the organization's objectives, developing policies and plans to achieve these objectives, and allocating resources to implement the policies and plans to achieve the organization's objectives (Burnes 2004) Strategic management, therefore, combines the activities of the various functional areas of a business to achieve organizational objectives. It is the highest level of managerial activity, usually formulated by the Board of directors and performed by the

organization's Chief Executive Officer (CEO) and executive team. Strategic management provides overall direction' to the enterprise and is closely related to the field of Organization Studies (Sheelen 2000).

## 1.1.1 Change process

Change can be viewed as a one-off event, an exception to the normal running of an organisation and, therefore, something to be dealt on an issue-by-issue basis as it arises (Burnes 2004). On the other hand some organisations see change not as an exception but as a norm, a continuous process that forms part of the organisation's day-to-day activities.

In the face of globalization, rapid technological advancement and growing consumer demands, many organizations found themselves in a state of flux. As they attempt to stay competitive in a do-or-die marketplace characterized by constant change, corporate leaders often can lose sight of a fundamental factor affecting their success: how corporate change can influence workforce behaviour (Barry 2001).

For front-line employees, organizational change can be uncomfortable and frightening. If the company fails to explain the "what," "why" and "how" of the transition, leaving employees groping for answers in the dark, they can easily become frustrated and disengaged. As described by Pettigrew and Whipp (1991) the implementation of change is an interactive, cumulative and reformulation-use process.

To keep workers from circulating their resumes and shirking their responsibilities during these transition periods, corporate leaders need to explain why the change is taking place and how it will affect the employee population. Notably according to Aprix (2001) the most effective way to communicate the details of organizational change to the workforce is to keep the front-line supervisors and managers informed throughout the process.

Because employees deal with things such as customer demands, internal costs and product quality on a daily basis, offering specific examples of what needs to improve will relate the transition to the business goals they already understand. Maintaining those existing connections is important to create a sense of stability and confidence in the company's leaders (Aprix 2001) and minimise resistance to change.

Challenges of change are evident in various organisations implementing new management structures; employees' job satisfaction is a core challenge that negatively affects effective implementation of the change process. Most employees fear that their jobs design will be altered after change implementation and this makes them to be less contented with their jobs. Lack of effective change management strategies greatly affects smooth implementation of change since most of the organisation operations are disrupted. A decline in employees performance is also experienced and high staff turnover rate is realised when the change tempts to threaten employees' job security (Maurcen 2004). Resistance to change is another challenge, which involves action taken by individuals and groups when they perceive that a change that is occurring as a threat to them. Key words here are perceive and threat. Resistance is the equivalent of objections in sales and disagreement in general discussions (Beitler 2006). Resistance may take many forms, including active or passive, overt or covert, individual or organized, aggressive or timid. For organization to overcome various challenges to change, strategic change management methods have to be applied in a way that change is accepted without disrupting organization operations.

According to Dent & Goldberg (1999), employees do not really resist the change, but they resist the loss of status, loss of pay, or loss of comfort. Managers should dispense with the phrase resistance to change and find a more useful and appropriate models for describing what the phrase has come to mean, employees are not wholeheartedly embracing a change that management wants to implement.

Change management is an ongoing process that assesses the business and the industries in which the company is involved. There are two main types of change: strategic and operational. Strategic change is concerned with organizational transformation which deals with broad, long-term and organization-wide issues. It is about moving to a future state which has been defined generally in terms of strategic vision and scope. Operational change relates to new systems, procedures, structures or technology which will have an immediate effect on working arrangements within a part of the organisation (Armstrong 2006).

Change management strategy is a combination of three main processes namely: strategy formulation, strategy implementation and strategy evaluation. This three-step strategy formulation process is sometimes referred to as determining where you are

now, determining where you want to go, and then determining how to get there. These three questions are the essence of strategic planning.

Strategy formulation involves: Performing a situation analysis, self-evaluation and competitor analysis: both internal and external; both micro-environmental and macro environmental. Concurrent with this assessment, objectives are set. This involves crafting vision statements, mission statements society, overall corporate objectives, strategic business unit objectives, and tactical objectives (Donald 1998). These objectives should, in the light of the situation analysis, suggest a strategic plan. The plan provides the details of how to achieve these objectives.

Strategy implementation involves: Allocation of sufficient resources such as financial, personnel, time, and technology support. Establishing a chain of command or some alternative structure such as cross functional teams. Assigning responsibility of specific tasks or processes to specific individuals or groups. It also involves managing the process. This includes monitoring results, comparing to benchmarks and best practices, evaluating the efficacy and efficiency of the process, controlling for variances, and making adjustments to the process as necessary. When implementing specific programs, this involves acquiring the requisite resources, developing the process, training, process testing, documentation, and integration with legacy processes.

Strategy evaluation involves measuring the effectiveness of the organizational strategy (Davidson 1996).

Successful change requires the engagement and participation of the people involved. Change management provides a framework for managing the people side of these changes. The most recent research points to a combination of organizational change management tools and individual change management models for effective change to take place.

An early model of change developed by Kurt Lewin (1951) described management of change to involve a three-stage process. The first stage is called unfreezing which involves overcoming inertia and dismantling the existing mindset. Defense mechanisms have to be bypassed. In the second stage the change occurs. This is

typically a period of confusion and transition where employees become aware that the old ways are being challenged. The third and final stage he called refreezing. The new mindset is crystallizing and one's comfort level is returning to previous levels.

A formula of change was developed by David Geicher (2000) and is sometimes referred to as Gleicher's Formula. The formula illustrates that the combination of organizational dissatisfaction, vision for the future and the possibility of immediate, tactical action must be stronger than the resistance within the organization in order for meaningful changes to occur.

The ADKAR model for individual change management was developed by Prosci with input from more than 1,000 organizations from 59 countries. This model describes five required building blocks for change to be realized successfully on an individual level. The building blocks of the ADKAR Model include: Awareness of why the change is needed, desire to support and participate in the change, Knowledge of how to change, Ability to implement new skills and behaviors and Reinforcement to sustain the change (Hiatt 2006)

Organizational change management includes processes and tools for managing the people side of the change at an organizational level. These tools include a structured approach that can be used to effectively transition groups or organizations through change. When combined with an understanding of individual change management, these tools provide a framework for managing the people side of change (Beckhard 1989).

## 1.1.2 Aon Minet Insurance brokers Ltd.

Aon Minet was incorporated in 1954 and is part of the Aon Corporation network of over 550 offices in 120 countries in the world. The company employs over 200 staff members with each division being fully computerised to ensure and maintain efficient top quality service. (Company profile 2007) Aon Minet has a large portfolio of corporate clients and provides cover for some of the most complex insurance risks in Kenya. The company is a service driven organisation which aspires to meet the highest standards expected by our clients. The mission is: "To provide professional Insurance and Risk Management services with the highest sense of integrity to all our

customers". (Company profile 2007) The head office is in Nairobi with branches in Mombasa and Eldoret.

The dynamic business environment has forced Aon to rethink its business strategy through utilizing the human capital it has, that is, both individuals and teams. One thing which has clearly stood out is the need to manage the talents in the current members of staff to become more competent in specific fields as per international standards. It has emerged that whenever the company has to tackle a client involved in highly specialised field, more often than not the company resulted in "importing" expertise from the developed countries (AIBK 2005).

In the Insurance brokerage sector in Kenya, the general insurances are lumped together as "general Insurance" being non-life and "non-medical". The result of this is that brokers/staff handle diverse client portfolios with no chance of offering specialised services. At the same time, employee talents are largely unutilised and undeveloped. An Minet realized this anomaly and decided to undertake the business segmentation to address the situation (Aon Intranet 2007). An realised in this type of setting they were largely unable to offer customised solutions to client and needed to restructure the current customer classification to segments that would enable staff to focus on specific industry segments.

## 1.1.3 The concept of Business Segmentation

Business segmentation goes beyond segmenting the clients into groups but also involves changing internal structures, systems and processes to service these groups (Richarme 2004). Simply put it's a move away from "one size fits all" approach. Marketing messages and product solutions can be tailored to their specific needs. McDonald (1995) observes that segmentation is the process of splitting customers into different groups, or segments within which there are customers with similar characteristics. According to Steenkamp (2002) there are some general criteria for the establishment of these distinct groups, notable is where members of a group of customers, or segments share more commonalities with each other than with members of other groups. In this category, the segments should be large enough for organizations to mount effective campaigns and should be reachable through most media avenues.

Business segmentation has several benefits. To the business community, the clients enjoy more informed services as the staff are specialised hence they provide a complete package. Savings to the company as there is no need to bring in "expatriates" to tackle specialised industries. The company is able to develop training programmes which are specific and reduce wastage of cash through implementing general programmes. The most commonly applied factors in segmentation process are demographic, geographic, psychographic and behaviouristic. One of the newer segmentation variables is talent. Talent management is a professional term that gained popularity in the late 1990s. It refers to the process of developing and fostering new workers through on boarding, developing and keeping current workers and attracting highly skilled workers at other companies to come work for your company. Talent management in this context does not refer to the management of entertainers (Moore 1999).

Companies that are engaged in talent management are strategic and deliberate on how they source, attract, select, train, develop, promote, and move employees through the organization. This term also incorporates how companies drive performance at the individual level (Walker 1992). The term talent management means different things to different people. To some it is about the management of high-worth individuals or "the talented" whilst to others it is about how talent is managed generally based on the assumption that all people have talent which should be identified and liberated (Bellingham 2004). This term is usually associated with competency-based human resource management practices. Talent management decisions are often driven by a set of organizational core competencies as well as position-specific competencies. The competency set may include knowledge, skills, experience, and personal traits demonstrated through defined behaviours (Walker 1992). As organizational demand for talent management continues to increase, so does the need for solutions and services to support the business initiative. Technology, of course, remains a key enabler. Successful implementations are those that integrate the range of Human Capital Management processes: talent acquisition, learning management, performance management, competency management, career development and succession planning (Graham-Moore 1995).

## 1.2 Statement of the Problem

Aon Minet Insurance Brokers Ltd. Introduced Business Segmentation process in January 2005. This was a new strategic change, both for the company and in the industry. This strategic change posed a major challenge to the firm as it led to the transformation of the structure, systems, processes and talent management. The management of Aon faced a reluctant staff, clients who were not sure what next and also shareholders who they were uncertain of the outcome of the new change. employees are aware that the old ways are being challenged but they do not have a clear picture to replace them with new ones. What held everything together was consequently, unfrozen to propel the change process (Lewin 1951). This resulted in an unprecedented fluid situation.

The dynamics of this situation led to increased levels of anxiety and concerted effort to resist change. Folger & Skarlicki (1999) found resistance as employee behaviour that seeks to challenge, disrupt, or invert prevailing assumptions, discourses, and power relations. The Management of Aon Minet Insurance had to deal with this situation through use of the appropriate change management strategies.

This study will seek to answer the question: What are the strategies used by of Aon Minet to manage the change process in the implementation of the business segmentation process?

## 1.3 Research Objective

The objective of the study is to determine the change management strategies used by Aon Minet in the implementation of business segmentation process.

## 1.4 Importance of the Study

- 1. Human Resource managers will understand factors which influence employees to resist change and how best to tackle these.
- 2. Managers in the insurance brokerage sector will be able to identify and establish the best practice on how to implement the business segmentation process.

 Policy makers and human resource development managers will learn on the importance identifying staff talents and managing them for the benefit of both staff and organisation.

#### **CHAPTER TWO**

#### LITERATURE REVIEW

## 2.1 Introduction

The chapter focuses on review of the pertinent literature of change management strategies. According to (Polit 1999), a literature review comprises the searching, identification and understanding of information relevant to the research topic. (Dempsey 2000) explained that the researcher starts reviewing the literature once the problem has been identified. The literature review provides the researcher with information pertinent to the study and indicates what research has already been done on the topic under study. Reasons for conducting the literature review includes avoiding duplication of a previous study, enabling the researcher to develop a relevant framework for his/her research, provides ideas about the study, reveal research strategies and guide the researcher in discussing the results of the current study by comparing and contrasting specific study's results with those previously reported studies.

The evolution of the change management field stems from psychology, business and engineering. Hence, some models are derived from Organizational Development perspective whereas others are based on individual behavioural models (Moore 1999). For this reason, this section explored the major theories of change that focus on individual Change Management and Organizational Change Management. The review examined theories of change in light of scholarly research and theory particularly in the field of psychology (Hiatt 2006). The literature review is useful for developing new change management strategies and a framework for evaluation of change assumptions and methods. The theories reviewed comprise dynamic conservatism theory, individual change management theory, organisational change management theory, the Columbo change theory, resistance to change and the theory if transitional phenomena

## 2.1.1 Dynamic Conservatism Theory

This theory was developed by Schön (1973), the theory explores the inherent nature of organizations to be conservative and protect themselves from constraint change. Schön

recognized the increasing need, due to the increasing pace of change for this process to become far more flexible. Schön had earlier recognized the need for want which is now termed as the learning organization. The theory ideas were further expanded on within his frame work of reflection-in-action, the mapping of a process by which constraint change could be coped with.

## 2.1.2 Individual Change Management Theory

This theory was developed by Kurt Lewin in 1951, he described change as a three-stage process. The first stage he called unfreezing. It involved overcoming inertia and dismantling the existing mindset. Defence mechanisms have to be bypassed. In the second stage the change occurs. This is typically a period of confusion and transition. The theory explained that employees are aware that the old ways are being challenged but they do not have a clear picture to replace them with new ones. The third and final stage of change was termed as refreezing stage. The new mindset involves crystallizing and one's comfort level is returned to previous levels (Lewin 1951).

Some change theories are based on derivatives of the Kübler-Ross model (1969), from Elisabeth Kubler-Ross's book, (1997) On Death and Dying. The stages of Kubler-Ross's model describe the personal and emotional states that a person typically encounters when dealing with loss of a loved one, that is: denial, anger, bargaining, depression and finally acceptance. Derivatives of her model applied in other settings such as the workplace show that similar emotional states are encountered as individuals are confronted with change.

A Formula for Change was developed by Richard Beckhard and David Gleicher (1997) and is sometimes referred to as Gleicher's Formula. The Formula illustrates that the combination of organizational dissatisfaction, vision for the future and the possibility of immediate, tactical action must be stronger than the resistance within the organization in order for meaningful changes to occur.

The ADKAR (Awareness, Desire, Knowledge, Ability, Reinforcement) theory for individual change management was developed by Prosci with input from more than 1000 organizations from 59 countries. This model described five required building blocks for change to be realized successfully on an individual level. The building blocks of the ADKAR Model included: Awareness of why the change is needed.

Desire to support and participate in the change Knowledge of how to change Ability to implement new skills and behaviours Reinforcement to sustain the change.

## 2.1.3 Organizational Change Management Theory

Organizational change management includes processes and tools for managing the people side of the change at an organizational level. These tools include a structured approach that can be used to effectively transition groups or organizations through change. When combined with an understanding of individual change management, these tools provide a framework for managing the people side of change (O'Donovan 2006).

Gabrielle O'Donovan designed a strategic implementation plan for a culture transformation programme which is largely based on primary research. The first phase strategic planning and design includes a series of steps; back to the drawing board to revisit the company purpose, form the strategic management team to oversee implementation, create programme vision and define strategy, organize the workforce and design the core programme and cultural embedding mechanisms that will support it. The second phase 'strategy implementation' includes these steps; communicate vision and roll-out, manage the human landscape plus maintain momentum and solidify ground made. The final phase 'evaluation and readjustment' focuses on the measuring of results and also planning for the future.

## 2.1.4 The Columbo Change Theory

Systems are perfectly designed and operated to get the results they get, yet do they get the results they want, or they could potentially get? Not hardly! Systems operate the way they do, not because of what we understand, but because of what we don't understand. We are for the most part consistently victims of our own ignorance. When Buddha was asked what he was, he replied, "I am awake." Most of us are not. We just continue to deceive ourselves into believing we are awake, because to admit we were so ignorant would be more injurious to our own self-concept than we could tolerate. Verily we have become amazingly adept at self-deception to protect our own self-concept, while we remain asleep and ignorant, and accuse most everything else of ignorance and ineptitude. So, how did I arrive at this perspective and what's to do about it (Bellinger 2004).

A system is an entity which maintains its existence through the interaction of its parts. This is Bertalanffy's definition, with which many managers have become most comfortable because of its simplicity and its implications. The key element of this definition is interaction, rather than parts. Systems are more a jumble of relations rather than a pile or a lump. A system is composed of subsystems and at the same time a subsystem of one or more other systems. And, it is the interaction of the parts of a system which is responsible for its emergent characteristics. Emergent meaning that the system as a whole has properties one can not find by studying the parts, like wetness emerging from the interaction of hydrogen and oxygen in a system called water. And, as turns out, there are fundamental principles of systems, which, although they may sometimes be violated in the short term, eventually come to pass. So what does all this have to do with change management (Belinger 2004)?

Organizations are systems, and they are subject to the principles of systems. For the most part, because employees don't understand the laws of systems, they continually attempt to violate them and are frustrated when the laws assert themselves and negate their efforts. As a result they curse the system for its ignorance, as they are unable, or unwilling, to curse themselves as it would be far too injurious to their own self-concept (Belinger 2004).

#### 2.1.5 The theory of Transitional Phenomena

The process of change is simply moving from the current way of doing things to a new and different way of doing things. Bridges (1991) believes that it is not the actual change that individuals resist, but rather the transition that must be made to accommodate the change. He stated that change is not the same as transition. Change is situational: the new site, the new boss, the new team roles, the new policy. Transition is the psychological process people go through to come to terms with the new situation. Change is external, transition is internal. Unless transition occurs, change will not work (Bridges 1991).

Morgan (1997) suggested that an understanding of the theory of transitional phenomena provides valuable insight into organizational change, and why it is met with employee resistance. This theory suggests that change will occur spontaneously

only when people are prepared to relinquish what they hold dear for the purpose of acquiring something new or can find ways of carrying what they value in the old into the new.

In the event that it does not exist naturally, it may be necessary for the organization to create transitional phenomena. This would help in the "letting go" of the current way and moving forward to the new way. Morgan added that, bringing about organization change can rarely be done effectively by selling or imposing a change package, an ideology or a set of techniques. The theory of transitional phenomena suggests that in situations of voluntary change the person doing the changing must be in control of the process (Morgan 1997).

### 2.1.6 Resistance to Change

Managers often perceive resistance negatively, and employees who resist are viewed as disobedient and obstacles the organization must overcome in order to achieve the new goals. However in certain instances, employee resistance may play a positive and useful role in organizational change. Insightful and well-intended debate, criticism, or disagreement do not necessarily equate to negative resistance, but rather may be intended to produce better understanding as well as additional options and solutions. De Jager (2001) claimed that, the idea that anyone who questions the need for change has an attitude problem is simply wrong, not only because it discounts past achievements, but also because it makes us vulnerable to indiscriminate and ill-advised change

Piderit (2000) pointed out that what some managers may perceive as disrespectful or unfounded resistance to change might be motivated by an individual's ethical principles or by their desire to protect what they feel is the best interests of the organization. Employee resistance may force management to rethink or re-evaluate a proposed change initiative. It also can act as a as a gateway or filter, which can help organizations select from all possible changes the one that is most appropriate to the current situation. According to de Jager (2001), resistance is simply a very effective, very powerful, very useful survival mechanism. Folger & Skarlicki (1999) claimed that not all interventions are appropriate as implemented; the organization might be changing the wrong thing or doing it wrong. Just as conflict can sometimes be used

constructively for change, legitimate resistance might bring about additional organizational change.

Leon Coetsee (1999) attempted to explain the nature of resistance to change through a continuum model. He stated that, in organizational development literature, acceptance of change and rejection of change are typically treated as separate, unrelated phenomena. Through his model, Coetsee argues that they are closely linked in the sense that they represent a polarity, with each being the far end of the continuum. Moving from resistance to commitment is done through sequential phases contained within the continuum.

Studies by Alvin Zander (1980) revealed resistance to change as behaviour intended to protect an individual from the effects of real or imagined change (cited in Dent & Goldberg, 1999). Zaltman & Duncan (1977) found resistance as any conduct that serves to maintain the status quo in the face of pressure to alter the status quo (cited in Bradley, 2000). Piderit (2000) explained that the definition of the term resistance must incorporate a much broader scope. She stated that past empirical research reviewed change emphases in conceptualizations of resistance: as a cognitive state, as an emotional state, and as behaviour.

The notion that employee resistance can be overcome cognitively suggests that negative thoughts or beliefs about the change exist. Piderit cited that, Watson (1982) suggested that what is often labelled as resistance is, in fact, only reluctance. Armenakis, Harris, and Mossholder (1993) explored resistance in behavioural terms but suggest that another state preceded it as a cognitive state which they called unreadness (Armenakis 2000).

Studies by Coch and French (1948) acknowledged aggression and frustration in employees as the emotional factors that caused undesirable behaviours and resistance to change. Argyris and Schon (1974, 1978) noted that resistance to change is a defence mechanism caused by frustration and anxiety (Piderit 2000).

Brower and Abolafia (1995) stated that resistance is a particular kind of action or inaction. Ashforth and Mael (1998) defined resistance as intentional acts of

commission or omission. Shapiro, Lweicki (1995) suggested that willingness to deceive authorities constitutes resistance to change (Devine 2000).

Piderit (2000) claimed that, although resistance to change conceptualizations overlap, they diverge in important ways. Finding a way to bring together these varying emphases should deepen understanding of how employees respond to proposed organizational changes. Each of the three conceptualizations of resistance as a behaviour, an emotion, or a belief has merit and represents an important part of our experience of response to change. Thus, any definition focusing on one view at the expense of the others seems incomplete.

According to Dent & Goldberg (1999), employees do not really resist the change, but they resist the loss of status, loss of pay, or loss of comfort. They claimed that, it is time that we dispense with the phrase resistance to change and find a more useful and appropriate models for describing what the phrase has come to mean, employees are not wholeheartedly embracing a change that management wants to implement.

In the 1940's, social psychologist Kurt Lewin first introduced the idea of managing and removing resistance to proposed changes occurring within organizations. His early work focused on the aspects of individual behaviour that must be addressed in order to bring about effective organizational change.

Morgan (1997) stated that, Lewin suggested that any potential change is resisted by forces in the opposite direction. The idea is similar to the dialectical principle that everything generates its opposite. But within Lewin's framework, the forces tend to be external to the change, holding situations in states of dynamic equilibrium. His solution was to advocate that successful change rests in "unfreezing" an established equilibrium by enhancing the forces driving change, or by reducing or removing resisting forces, and then "refreezing" in a new equilibrium state.

The first known published reference to research on resistance to change in organizations was a 1948 study conducted by Lester Coach and John R. P. French entitled, Overcoming Resistance to Change. Their research, which generated a large body of work on the importance of employee involvement in decision making, was conducted at the Hardwood Manufacturing Company, a pyjama factory located in

Virginia. This study focused on the main questions. Why do people resist change so strongly and what can be done to overcome this resistance to change (Dent & Goldberg 1999).

In 1950, Alvin zander wrote, Resistance to Change-Its Analysis and Prevention." His article made an early distinction between the symptoms of resistance, like hostility or poor effort, and the underlying causes for the behaviour. Dent & Goldberg (1999) state, Rather than providing a systems model, Sander equates resistance in organizations to that of a psychotherapist and a patient. His primary advice for practicing managers is to know what the resistance means so that they may reduce it by working on the causes rather than the symptoms.

Zander (1999) found out that there are six reasons for resistance to change; these are; if the nature of the change is not made clear to the people who are going to be influenced by the change, if the change is open to a wide variety of interpretations, if those influenced feel strong forces deterring them from changing, if the people influenced by the change have pressure put on them to make it instead of having a say in the nature or the direction of the change, if the change is made on personal grounds, if the change ignores the already established institutions in the group (Dent & Goldberg 1999).

## 2.1.7 Firmographics Business Segmentation Theory.

The theory states that there are four main business segmentation techniques. The first technique is labeled as business descriptors; this attempts to classify businesses by specific descriptors, such as business revenue, number of employees, number of product lines, number of key competitors, market share, and similar items. However, many of these descriptors are not publicly available and, even more, adds little information to the segmentation goal of describing unique groups of decision makers to whom a specific marketing message could be crafted and delivered (Richarme 2004).

The second technique is labeled as type of business, it attempts to divide firms into segments with a standardized classification scheme, such as the Standard Industrial Classification (SIC) code. Though generally available from public sources, this

method also provides challenges when attempting to classify businesses that have many different lines of business (Richarme 2004). The third technique, labeled location of business, examines the physical addresses of businesses and uses geography as the major clustering factor. While this approach may produce differentiated groups among organizations with one physical location, it becomes unwieldy when applied to geographically dispersed divisions, branches, or retail locations. This has implications for selling, for product delivery, for billing, for customer service, and for almost every other facet of a firm.

The fourth technique labeled as revenue, simply breaks firms into size Categories based on their revenues. This approach recognizes that even though a business might be small in comparison to others, it might also provide the organization with a more substantial revenue stream than that provided by other larger businesses (Richarme 2004).

Campbell (1998) in his business segmentation studies found out that, the underlying purpose of segmentation is to divide customers into distinct groups, such that marketing messages can be tailored to their specific needs. There are some general criteria for the establishment of these distinct groups. The groups of customers, or segments, should share more commonalities within each group than there are between groups. The segments should also be large enough for organizations to mount cost-effective campaigns and should be reachable through most media avenues

Describing consumer households in the past was simply a matter of gathering relevant demographic information and performing a cluster analysis. Demographics for households were fairly straightforward, in that the decision maker was generally identifiable without much effort, and the demographic categories were standardized to a great degree by the United States Bureau of the Census, aided by population parameters generated each decade by the Census Bureau (Morton 1998).

Organizations rapidly discovered, however, that simple demographic segmentation had severe limitations when it came to gaining a better understanding of the decision-making process that was taking place in the households. So most future thinking researchers began adding questions to their instruments to pry apart this complex

process. The simple demographic-based segmentation approaches gave way to psychographic segmentation, focusing on lifestyle choices (Eakins 1999).

Organizations had a better glimpse into the minds of their consumers and were able to better tailor their marketing messages. The concept of mass customization came into vogue, with effective marketing being conducted toward smaller and more unique segments of consumers. Organizations, however, found it difficult to adapt these same segmentation concepts and techniques to the business market (Gibbons 1999).

A successful market segment has the following characteristics: measurability, accessibility, substantiality and actionability.

Measurability is the degree to which the size and purchasing power of the segments can be measured. Certain segmentation variables are difficult to measure. An illustration would be the size of the segment of teenage smokers who smoke do so to rebel against their parents (Backhard 1989).

Accessibility refers to the degree to which the segments can be reached and served. Suppose a perfume company believes that heavy users of its brand are illiterate single women who are often out late at night and frequent bars. It is possible that such individuals will be difficult to reach with traditional media (Beckhard 1989).

Substantiality is the degree to which the segments are large or profitable. A segment should be the largest possible homogenous group worth going after with a tailored marketing program (Kotler 2002). It would probably not pay, for example, for an automobile manufacturer to develop cars for people who are less than four feet in height.

Actionability refers to the degree to which effective programs can be designed to attract and serve the segments. A small airline, for example, may identify seven market segments, but its staff may be too small to develop separate marketing programs for each segment (Kotler 2002).

#### **CHAPTER THREE**

#### RESEARCH METHODOLOGY

## 3.1 Introduction

This chapter presents the method the researcher used to conduct the study. It includes design, sampling, data collection technique and procedure, data analysis and presentation.

## 3.2 Research Design

This is a case study. This design is considered appropriate since only one organisation is involved. It is also appropriate because an in-depth and comprehensive inquiry was conducted.

#### 3.3 Data Collection

Data was obtained from key informants who were members of the task force charged with the responsibility of implementing the business Segmentation process. These were: Chief Executive Officer, Human Resource Manager, Marketing Director, Financial Controller, Divisional Director, Industry & Mining Division, Divisional Director, Middle Markets Division and Divisional Director, Specialty Division.

Primary data was collected through personal interview using the attached interview guide (appendix 2). Secondary data from the organisation annual board papers - HR reports, Internal newsletters and any other relevant documents.

## 3.4 Data Analysis

The data collected from the interview was qualitative, the content analysis method was used to analyse the data.

#### **CHAPTER FOUR**

## DATA ANALYSIS, FINDINGS AND DISCUSSION

## 4.1 Introduction

This chapter presents results of the analysis of data collected through interviews with seven heads of divisions and the Chief Executive Officer (CEO). The interviewees consisted of the Chief Executive Officer, the Human Resource Manager, the Financial Controller, Divisional Director, Marketing and three divisional directors of the divisions involved in the business segmentation process, Industry and Mining division, Middle markets and Specialty Division. Due to the qualitative nature of data and the number of people interviewed, content analysis was preferred.

### 4.2 Analysis and Findings

## Conception of the business segmentation process

The interview guide sought responses on how and when the business segmentation process was conceived by the company. From the responses received from the interviewees, business segmentation was conceived in August 2004. The concept of business segments has been successfully applied in the underwriting market but not in the broking market. The model has been very successful especially where the clientele consists of multinational companies coming from highly specialised insurance markets. In the developed countries you get all sorts of specialised insurance solutions. Aon Kenya also noted that the Aon global was very developed and it was time for Aon Kenya to adopt the same model and provide world competitive services.

## Business reasons for implementing the business segmentation process

The informants were asked to explain the business reasons that drove the implementation of the business segmentation process. The reasons that saw the company implement the business segmentation process were the objectives set for the business segmentation process. The table below shows the various reasons for implementing the business segmentation process.

Table 1: Reasons for implementing Business segmentation process

| Reason for implementation      | Implication                                    |
|--------------------------------|--|
| Increased competition          | • The world is becoming a global village with  |
|                                | clients being exposed to many broking          |
|                                | solutions. Aon was forced to rethink its       |
|                                | product and service packaging in order to      |
|                                | compete effectively in the face of stiff       |
|                                | competition.                                   |
| Talent management              | The company realised the need to manage and    |
|                                | develop the existing talent among its staff    |
|                                | instead of hiring trained professionals.       |
|                                | • This enhanced staff loyalty and save the     |
|                                | company cost of fresh hires.                   |
| Increased customer demands     | • Clients are continually looking for high     |
|                                | quality products and increased value addition  |
|                                | on every product or service they purchase.     |
|                                | • To meet this demand, Aon had to be fully     |
|                                | informed about which products are available    |
|                                | to clients in the different affinity groups.   |
| Effective strategic management | • Through focus on specific business segments, |
|                                | the company is able to align its strategic     |
|                                | objectives with the divisional objectives.     |
|                                | • Business segments not meeting the strategic  |
|                                | plans of the company are quickly identified    |
|                                | and corrective measures applied.               |
|                                | • The element of guessing which units are      |
|                                | profitable or not is eliminated in totality.   |
| One Aon                        | • The business segments created in Kenya were  |
|                                | in line with the business segments found       |
|                                | around the globe in other Aon companies,       |
|                                | hence clients find same solutions in each      |
|                                | country were Aon is located.                   |

## Preparations made prior to implementation

The interviewees explained the preparations made prior to implementing the business segmentation process. The Aon global model was studied by the executive and reviewed by the main board directors for approval to be introduced to the Kenyan managers. The Chief Executive Officer held breakout sessions with senior managers to get them to buy in on the idea. The first step was to review the existing divisional business plans and it was agreed that for Aon Kenya to keep ahead of the competition, there was need to change its strategy to one which can serve a cosmopolitan market. Therefore, divisional directors were required to realign their current plans to that of the company in light of the proposed changes. A task force headed by the Chief Executive Officer (CEO) was identified and it consisted of the three Division Directors of the divisions to be affected, also included was the Human Resource Manager, the Financial Controller and Marketing Director. The divisions affected were: Commercial, Minlark and Broking divisions. Objectives of the of the business segmentation process were set by the task force. A timetable was set for the implementation of the process. The Human resource manager reviewed staff capabilities in terms of qualifications and experience. The Financial controller prepared budget estimates for the whole process.

#### Communication strategies

The informants were asked to explain how the business segmentation objectives were communicated to staff. The process was first communicated by the CEO through the Staff bulletin board (Email based) and staff not on email, got a printed copy on the notice board giving a broad description of the changes expected to commence in January 2005. The Human Resource Manager was appointed chief communication officer for the whole process. The CEO also sent an informational circular to clients on the impending changes in the company and assured them of the best service as always. Each of the divisional Directors then held meetings with their head of departments to further sensitise them on the process. After this meeting then the divisions held divisional meetings where the staff queries were addressed, by the divisional directors. Before the actual commencement of the process, the divisions each held "retreats" out of the office to discuss what the new changes meant for them and how it was going to affect their work and working relationships.

## Actions taken to empower staff to participate effectively in the implementation of the business segmentation process

The informants were asked to explain specific actins taken to empower staff to participate effectively in the implementation of the business segmentation process. First the staffs were reassured that the process was not targeting them to loose their jobs and that it was a client service focussed change. The human resources manager asked the staff to update their personal files with records of any certificates/qualifications acquired recently. Staff training was undertaken during lunch breaks to introduce staff to the new affinity groups into which clients would be divided into. Every week during the weekly divisional meetings, the staff were given updates and their comments/concerns noted. The divisional director then forwarded their feedback to the task force and appropriate action was undertaken.

### Stages of the business segmentation process

Informants were asked to explain the stages through which the business segmentation process was implemented by the company. The stages in the business segmentation process are on table two here below.

Table 2: Stages in the business segmentation process

| Stage    | Activities   |
|----------|--|
| Planning | A task force made up senior managers was set up.     |
|          | • This team was charged checking on the existing     |
|          | client groups and come up with new affinity groups   |
|          | in line with Aon Global Practice Groups (GPGs)       |
|          | Objectives for the business segmentation were set in |
|          | line with the company's strategic objectives.        |
|          | • Timelines for the various stages of the business   |
|          | segmentation process were drawn up                   |
|          | Creation of sub-committees to handle the more        |
|          | detailed operations in the whole process             |
|          | Major grouping identified were: Industries & Mining, |
|          | Middle Markets and Specialised clients.              |

| Unfreezing     | This stage involved breaking up the existing groups  |
|----------------|--|
|                | in readiness for re-grouping into the new  |
|                | classifications or affinity groups.  |
|                | The human resource manager compiled talents  |
|                | among existing staff to be deployed to handle clients  |
|                | in the new affinity groups.  |
|                | Communication was also sent to staff regarding this  |
|                | stage of the process of the process and the expected   |
|                | "breaking up" of the old familiar divisions.   |
| Implementation | The company CEO was the lead change agent.   |
|                | This stage was the actual placing of the clients into  |
|                | the newly created affinity groups  |
|                | The employees identified as having specific talents in   |
|                | terms of qualifications and experience, were moved   |
|                | around to staff the newly created affinity groups.   |
|                | • The internal members of staff were continually   |
|                | updated on the progress of the process.  |
| Re-freezing    | • The newly created divisions were now called:   |
|                | Industry and Mining division, Specialty division and   |
|                | Middle Markets division.   |
|                | • The new staff teams underwent team building  |
|                | sessions both internally and away from the offices.  |
|                | • There was also the task of introducing the client to   |
|                | the new account handlers. This involved doing  |
|                | letters to the clients and personal visits by the  |
|                | assigned staff to acquaint themselves with the client.   |
| Evaluation     | The company carries out client surveys to evaluate   |
|                | the effectiveness of the strategy through Net  |
|                | Promoter Score (NPS) on the company website. (Aon 2007)  |
|                | There is also internal survey carried out on staff and   |
|                | are requested to respond anonymously.  |
|                | and the factor of the factor o |

## Staff attitude and perception regarding the new changes

The informants were asked to describe the attitude and perception of the employees regarding the introduction of the business segmentation process. The first reaction was resistance, brought about the obvious fear of the unknown. Some perceived this as a management plan to send them home. Another group were resentful about being placed in new working teams. There was also fear of having to deal with new clients and start all over again creating new relationships, the tendency was to towards old and familiar clients, which the staff had already formed a good working rapport. Despite the reluctant compliance, the staff finally embraced the process with enthusiasm once they understood the direct benefits they would reap from it.

## Senior management influence in determination of methods used in the change process.

The interviewees agreed that for the change to take place and be fully embraced by the staff, there was need for senior management intervention to give both leadership and direction of the change process. The senior management played a key role in determining the methods to be used in implementing the change. The influence of the executive management was favourable for the task force team as they knew they had the backing of the senior management in carrying out the change process. The influence of the senior managers also helped deal with the resistant that became apparent once the implementation of the business segmentation got underway.

#### Talent management

The interviewees noted that the business segmentation process had benefited the staff in terms of talent management. The divisional directors were able to identify high potential staff and work with the human resource department to come up with development strategies for them. The placement of staff in certain business segments was based on staff interest and identified areas of growth. Through the business segmentation process specific performance management was also more focussed, with the performance objectives being set on clearly defined parameters, for example, staff to increase the number of clients in a specific group of affinity. There was also the increased challenge on staff for self development in the type of business segment they work in. The training department was able to develop specific training programmes for staff according to the type of business in their particular segment, unlike in the past

where these trainings were generalised. Staff working in specific affinity groups were also able to interact with other staff at Aon global level in working solutions to client needs hence increasing their knowledge.

## Efficiency of the brokerage operations

The interviewer sought to find out if the business segmentation process had improved the efficiency of the brokerage operations. There was a general consensus by all the interviewees that it had greatly increased the efficiency. This was noted particularly in terms of elimination of duplication of work. While in the past two members of staff from different divisions would send proposals to the same client, now there was clear vision as to who handles which client groups. Also where the company realised a particular strength in an affinity group, the company now had the capacity to capitalise on such strengths. There was also a noted reduction in cost of importing workforce to deal with complex client needs, where one person handling locally could liaise with the expert using various means of communication and as such develop and learn more. It also reduced client confusion on what exactly the company was all about, the new affinity groups clearly spelt out which division is handling what type/affinity group of clients.

## Benefits of the new change to the company

The researcher sought to know if introduction of business segmentation had benefited the company. The interviewees all agreed it had brought positive change in the delivery of service to clients. The issue of focussed effort towards meeting clients specialised needs unlike before where there were not clearly defined affinity groups. There was a move away from "one size fits all" approach. The staffs were able to add value to client needs, since they had more information on the insurance needs of a client in specific industries, they were also continually keeping abreast with developments of the same at a global level. Liaison with the Human resource consulting groups that is healthcare divisions and life and pensions division is more direct, as the staff in these divisions knows who exactly is dealing with which affiliate groups. Budgeting is easier and more focussed the management is able to determine which segment is more profitable and allocate resources accordingly, also they are able to project incomes with higher level of certainly.

# Challenges during implementation

The interviewer sort to know what obstacles were encountered during implementation of the process. These obstacles are highlighted in table three below.

Table 3: Challenges during implementation

| Challenge              | Explanation   |
|------------------------|---|
| Employee resistance    | <ul> <li>The employee did not easily embrace the change as they had to move from comfort zones with new bosses, new teams and new clients.</li> <li>The management had expected this obstacle and had put in place measures to tackle this.</li> </ul>  |
| Manpower               | <ul> <li>Lack of trained staff to handle the new affinity groups as the existing staffs were ill-equipped in terms of experience to handle the specialised business segments.</li> <li>It also came to light that the numbers were less than the required numbers after the segmentation process.</li> <li>This obstacle presented a new dimension to the whole process, considering the company did not to hire staff without proper Human Resource planning.</li> </ul> |
| Information Technology | <ul> <li>The Information Technology staffs were required to come up with new codes for the new business segments.</li> <li>The requirement for rolling over the clients into new divisions as a matter of urgency stretched the Information Technology staff to the limit</li> <li>The broking staff also had a challenge to master the new system codes for the business segments.</li> </ul>  |
| Increased Costs        | <ul> <li>The costs were in form of consultants hired to advise on rebuilding new cohesion in the company after the breakup caused by change process</li> <li>There was also the cost of communicating to clients the new changes within the company</li> <li>Training cost as there was a need staff to train staff to handle the various specialised business segments.</li> </ul>   |

| Time constraint | • | The segmentation process demanded time from the task   |
|-----------------|---|--|
|                 |   | force to implement the whole process                   |
|                 | • | On the other hand regular operations of the company    |
|                 |   | had to still continue uninterrupted and ensuring this  |
|                 |   | seamless workflow resulted in need to work extra hours |
|                 |   | by most members of staff.                              |

#### Review of the business

The business segments are continually reviewed to ensure they are working properly and that the set objectives are being met. One of the tools used for this is the business plans which divisional directors are expected to follow and ensure implementation. These are in line with company's strategic plans and pushed down to the operational level. The human resource also does semi-annual surveys to get feedback from staff, this instrument collects data from anonymous respondents to ensure the staff are honest without fear of victimisation. The company also carries out client surveys to evaluate the effectiveness of the strategy through Net Promoter Score (NPS) on the company website, (Aon 2007).

The senior management convenes strategic meetings every ninety (90) days to check if the segmentation is still in check and there is no deviation from the set objectives. The managers are supposed to update on the status of various accounts and any new issues encountered in handling clients. This also includes any prospects, which are vetted for perfect fit into the existing affinity groups. There are monthly management and production reports which give feedback on the productivity of the divisions and problems can be detected early. The main board reports also report regularly on the status of new segments, the positives and negatives of the affinity groups.

#### Perception of various stakeholders

The interviewees were also asked to give feedback on the perception of various stakeholders regarding the introduction of the business segmentation process. They agreed the shareholders noted improved returns due to the new business strategy, the company had effectively penetrated the market. The customers were happy the new affinity groups were easily defined and were receiving top class service. The value added to their needs was also remarkable, they were also happy that the service teams

were more informed about the needs of their industries. Internally, there was zero duplication of work and hence increased efficiency in working. Employees were also happy since they now appreciated the business segments and saw the benefits of the same, both to the company and as individuals in terms of personal growth and development.

#### **CHAPTER FIVE**

# SUMMARY, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS

#### 5.1 Introduction

This study was designed with the objective of establishing the change management strategies used by Aon Minet Insurance Brokers Limited in the implementation of business segmentation process. Data was collected from key informants that comprised of senior managers.

## 5.2 Summary and Conclusions

The analysis in chapter four gives an indication of the strategies used by Aon in implementing the business segmentation process. The process was important if the company was to stay ahead of competition and also reposition itself in the market. The business segmentation process in the insurance brokerage is a new concept in the brokerage sector which is useful to any organisation keen to achieve its strategic goals especially in terms of client growth. This study was an attempt to fill in the gap knowledge on the best practice in change management when implementing a business segmentation process.

#### 5.2.1 Steps in the Process of Implementation

The key steps used by the company in implementing the business segmentation were:

- 1. Setting up the task force, headed by the Chief Executive Officer.
- 2. Introducing the business segmentation to the Divisional directors
- 3. Reviewing the existing business segments and identifying new business segments
- 4. Breaking up the existing business units
- 5. Identifying Aon Global Practice Groups (GPGs) and setting up affinity groups in line with these.
- 6. Realigning divisional business plans to accommodate this new business strategy.
- 7. Placing of the clients in the new affinity groups, moving staff around into the newly created divisions.
- 8. Refreezing the new divisions and new teams.
- 9. Evaluating the process

The above steps were specific to this process and applicable to the brokerage company, and do not necessarily have a universal applicability. The guidelines of Kurt Lewin in change management is very important in providing general guidelines for implementing the business segmentation but each organisation must modify its own approach as appropriate.

## 5.2.2 Communicating the Concept to the Employees and Buy in

This was a very important activity in the whole implementation process. Without effective communication channels being in place, even a well designed business segmentation process might not achieve its specific goals. An Minet Kenya has put in place various communication channels to ensure that every member of staff understands what the business segmentation is all about and the objectives the company wants to achieve through the process. The main channels of communication used by the brokerage company are:

- 1) Training
- 2) Memos and bulletin boards
- 3) Breakout sessions and team building sessions
- 4) Divisional staff meetings and Sub-unit staff meetings
- 5) In-house magazine
- 6) Aon global magazines

It has also established and encouraged the use of multiple communication channels. As such the message of the importance of the business segmentation can be communicated to staff in different ways, hence enhancing better understanding and in turn this results in acceptance and embracing of the new business segments. Improving employee awareness must be a deliberate and continuous effort.

## 5.2.3 Objectives of the Business Segmentation Process

The implementation of the business segmentation process has to be focussed on the objectives behind the segmentation process. An Minet Kenya had identified client focus and talent management as the main objectives of the process. If the company loses focus on these two main objectives then the process was not effective. Constant checks had to be done by the task force team to ensure they are achieved.

# 5.2.4 Strategies for Maintaining the Newly Created Business Segments

The business segments require constant monitoring by way of reviews and where need be modifications in the structures set. There is also need to keep the staff motivated and focussed as they deal with "new" client groups. The client groups have to be continually reassured of value added in provision of services, while the staff have to exhibit career development and increased knowledge in their every day work. In order to achieve these goals effectively the company has put in place the following strategies:

- 1) Commitment at all levels, starting from the top management and main board
- 2) Continuous training, coaching and mentoring of staff
- 3) Open door policies where staff have access to their managers
- 4) Development of organisational business plans and goals
- 5) Staff and client surveys

The information feedback from the above channels ensure that the segmentation process is a success. For example where clients want to shift across divisions the issues are tackled early and thus the structure of the segments are maintained.

# 5.2.5 Experiences and Perception of Employees

As expected of any change programme, the introduction of the business segmentation process at Aon Minet Kenya has revealed experiences and employee perceptions that are worth noting. The Business segmentation process involved changing internal structures, systems and processes relating to client service (Richarme 2004). Simply put it is a move away from "one size fits all" approach.

The initial reaction by staff was resistance, brought about the obvious fear of the unknown. Some perceived this as a management plan to send them home. The staffs were also unsure of how to relate with new bosses and new teams. There was also fear of having to deal with new clients and start all over again creating new relationships, the tendency was to towards old and familiar clients, which the staff had already formed good working rapport.

The brokerage firm realized the importance of developing positive employee perception and put in place strategies to enhance and sustain these. Some of the

strategies include: rigorous training of staff and coaching, peer group leaders to head various sub-units in the divisions. There is also the obvious empowerment and development of talent identified. This is done through specialised training abroad or appointment as the company representative in any one of the various Aon Global Practice Groups (GPGs).

## 5.3 Suggestions for Further Research

The study was a case study of only one organisation. More studies should therefore be done on the challenges faced by organisations when implementing change in client classification through use of f business segmentation process.

A more complete study is recommended on the impact of adopting business segments in service related organizations, not only in the insurance brokerage sector but also in other industries.

#### 5.4 Recommendations for Policy and Practice

This study found that the introduction of new changes in the form of business segmentation was not a simple task. Before embarking on implementation of the business segmentation process the organisation needs to carry out an evaluation of its leadership and organisational readiness to embrace this change.

#### The right leadership

The leader of the business segmentation process must be a senior executive who possesses the title and authority necessary to institute strategic change and who is also strongly committed to the process. Such a leader must understand the business segmentation process thoroughly and its particular details, before selling the ideas to other managers.

The leader must be visionary and have the end in focus of what the organisation should look like after the process is done. This vision must be clearly communicated to all the staff, starting with senior management and members of the task force. The leader's personality should be charismatic enough to draw the support and enthusiasm of others involved in the process. He must be ready to continually sell the vision and persuade buy in through facts of the change.

## Organisational readiness

The company must recognise the need for the strategic change. The nature of the business segmentation process including the resulting, change in internal structures, systems and processes. The staff in the organization must believe that the management and leader of the change process is wholly committed to it. The organization must have the financial and human resources required to implement the business segmentation process.

The organization must be focused on the fact that this process also affects clients and strategies must be put in place to address client queries or any issues raised. This means the clients must be valued highly and one of the key objectives in this whole process was to satisfy their needs through value addition.

At Aon Minet Kenya all the above recommendations were found to be in place, however the study recommends continuous training of staff on change management. This is a global phenomena and changes will be expected in any organization that is growing and seeking to stay relevant in the market, preparing staff to expect changes and how to handle these changes is imperative for all staff not only for the management staff.

## 5.5 Limitations of the Study

This study centred on the change management strategies used by Aon Minet Kenya in the implementation of the business segmentation process. Since it is a case study it suffers a shortcoming in that the results of this study cannot be generalised to other organisations. Another limitation is that the interview method of data collection is a very persuasive method. If the responses are not corroborated by other sources of information, the responses might not be as true as they are given by the interviewees. The responses given by the key informants might be biased. Another limitation was the lack of time of by the key informants, getting interviews with all the targeted respondents was not easy due to work related engagements.

#### REFERENCES

Aprix.T.M. (2001). Resistance to Change; First Edition; Pearson Publishers.

Argyris, C (1993). Knowledge for Action: A guide to overcoming barriers to organizational change, Jossey Bass, San Farancisco.

Armenakis, Achilles A., Harris, Stanley G., Mossholder, Kevin W. (1993). Creating Readiness for Organizational Change Human Relations, Department of Management, College of Business, Auburn University, Alabama, Vol. 46, No. 6, 681-703

Armstrong, M (2006). Human Resource Management Practice, Tenth Edition, Kogan page, London

Armstrong, M and Baron, A (2004). Strategic HRM: The key to improved business performance, CIPD, London

Barry.L.H (2001). Organizational change; Second edition; Dorsey press.

Beckhard, R (1989). A model for the executive management of transformational change in G Salaman, (ed) Human Resources Strategies, Sage, London.

Beer, M. Spector, B, Lawrence, P, Quinn Mills, D and Walton, R Et al (1984). Managing Human Assets, Free Press, New York

Beer, M, Eisenstat, R, And Spector, B (1990). Why change programs don't produce change, Harvard Business Review, November/December, pp 158-166

Belinger, Gene (2004). The Columbo Change theory, <a href="http://www.svstems-thinking.org/columbo/columbo.htm">http://www.svstems-thinking.org/columbo/columbo.htm</a> Available

Bellingham, Richard, Campanello, Russell J., (2004). HR Optimization: From Personnel Administration to Human and Organizational Capital Development, Human Resource Development Press

Bezos.L.J. (2001). Market dynamics; First Edition; Pearson Publishers.

Bridges, W. (1991). Managing transitions: making the most of change. Reading, MA: Wesley Publishing Company.

Burnes, Bernard (2004). Managing change, Fourth Edition, Pearson Education, England.

Coetsee, L. (Summer, 1999). From resistance to commitment. Public Administration Quarterly, 204-222.

Columbus, F.K. (1989). Strategic Management,; First Edition; Merrill Publishing Company.

Company profile (2007). Aon Minet Insurance Brokers Limited

Dainton W.K.(1999). Change management strategies; First edition, Harper and Row publishers Inc.

Dainton F.K, (1999). Change Management; First Edition; Pearson Publishers.

Davidson, Mike (1996). The transformation of management, Butterworth-Heinemann

De Jager, P. (2001). Resistance to change: a new view of an old problem. The Futurist.

Dent, E. & Goldberg, S. (1999, March). Challenging "resistance to change." Journal of Applied Behavioral Science 25-41.

Drucker. P.K. (1994). The Practice of Management, First Edition; Harper and Row, New York

Folger, R. & Skarlicki, D. (1999). Unfairness and resistance to change: hardship as mistreatment, Journal of Organizational Change Management, 35-50.

Graham-Moore, Brian E., Ross, Timothy L., Ross, Ruth Ann (1995). Gainsharing and Employee Involvement: Plans for Improving Performance, BNA Books,

Hiatt, Jeffrey M. (2006). ADKAR: A model for change in business, government and our community, Prosci

Kanter, R M (1984). The Change Masters, Allen & Unwin, London

Kübler-Ross, Elisabeth (1997). On Death & Dying, 1st Edition, Simon & Schuster, New York

Kotler, P, Jain, Dipak C., Maesincee, Suvit (2002). Marketing Moves: A New Approach to Profits, Growth, and Renewal, Harvard Business Press, London

Lewin, K. (1951). Field theory in social science; selected theoretical papers. D. Cartwright (ed.). Harper & Row. New York:

Lamb, Robert, Boyden (1994). Competitive strategic management; First Edition; Englewood Cliffs, NJ: Prentice-Hall.

Morgan, G. (1997). Images of organization, Thousand Oaks, CA: Sage Publications, Inc.

Nadler, D A and Tushma, M L (1980). A congruence model for diagnosing organisational behaviour, Resource book in Micro-organizational Behaviour, RH Miles (ed) Goodyear Publishing, Santa Monica, CA

Nzuve, Stephen N. M. (1997). Management of Human Resources. A Kenyan Perspective.

O'Donovan, Gabrielle (2006). The Corporate Culture Handbook: How to Plan, Implement and Measure a Successful Culture Change Programme, The Liffey Press, Dublin

Pettigrew, A and Whipp, R (1991). Managing Change for Competitive Success, Blackwell, Oxford

Piderit, S.K. (2000). Rethinking resistance and recognizing ambivalence: a multidimensional view of attitudes toward an organizational change. Academy of Management

Richarme, M. (2004). Business Segmentation: Emerging Approaches to more meaningful clusters, White papers, Decision Analyst Inc. Dallas

Roger, S.M (2002). Managing Change; Second edition; Great Britain: Alden Press

Samuel, K.J. (2001). Human capital management; Second Edition; Longman publishers.

Schein, E (1995). 'Kurt Lewin's Change Theory in the Field and in the Classroom: Notes Toward a Model of Managed Learning', Systems Practice, http://www.solonline.org/res/wp/10006.html

Schön, D. A. (1973). Beyond the Stable State. Public and private learning in a changing society, Harmondsworth: Penguin.

Sheelen J.F (2000). Strategic management; First edition; New York; McGraw-Hill press

Steenkamp and Ter Hofstede (2002). "International market segmentation: issues and perspectives", Intern. J. of Market Research, Vol 19, P. 185-213

Stoner, James, Freeman, R. Edward and Gilbert, Daniel R. JR. (2007). Management, 6<sup>th</sup> Edition, Prentice Hall, P 440 - 443

Walker, J. W. (1992). Human Resource Strategy, McGraw-Hill, New York

www.aibk.org November 2005

www.aon.com intranet 2007

#### APPENDIX 1: COVER LETTER

Date: 19<sup>th</sup> September 2008

The Respondent Aon Minet Insurance Brokers Ltd. P. O. Box 48279 - 00100 NAIROBI

Dear Sir/Madam

## RE: LETTER OF INTRODUCTION

I am a postgraduate student in the School of Business, University of Nairobi pursuing a Master of Business Administration (MBA) Degree program. In order to fulfil the degree requirements, I am currently undertaking a human Resource research project on "Change management strategies used by Aon Minet Insurance Brokers Limited (Kenya)".

I kindly request your assistance by availing time for an interview (no more than 30 minutes) which will be based on the interview guide enclosed herein. Any documentations, strategic plans or reports that you may have that are relevant to this topic of study may be availed to me at your discretion.

A copy of the final report will be made available to you at your request.

Your assistance will be highly appreciated. You can contact me on the number below to schedule the interview at your earliest convenience. Please be assured that the information will provide is strictly for academic purposes.

Yours faithfully,

# Kibanga, Susan W. 0722636996 or ext 312

Cc. Prof. P. O. K'Obonyo Academic Supervisor

# **APPENDIX 2: INTERVIEW GUIDE**

| Perso | onal Details  |
|-------|---|
| (1) F | For how long have you been working for Aon Minet? (Yrs)                         |
| (2) V | What is your current position in the Brokerage company?                         |
|       |   |
| (3) I | ndicate the Department/Section of the company you are currently working in      |
|       |   |
| Impl  | ementation of the Business Segmentation Process                                 |
| (4) ( | a) When was the process of business Segmentation conceived by the company?      |
|       |   |
|       |   |
| (     | (b) How was the process of business Segmentation conceived by the company?      |
|       |   |
|       |   |
|       |   |
| (5) N | What were the business reasons that drove the business segmentation process in  |
| A     | Aon Minet?  |
|       |   |
|       |   |
|       |   |
| (6) N | What preparations did you make prior to its implementation? (The preparation is |
| t     | erms of policies & procedures, communication to employees etc.)                 |
|       |   |
|       |   |
|       |   |

|     | How did you communicate the business segmentation process objectives to the staff?   |
|-----|--|
|     |  |
| (8) | What specific actions did you take to empower employees to participate effectively in implementation of the business segmentation process?         |
| (9) | What are the stages through which the business segmentation process was implemented by the company?  |
|     | How would you describe the attitude and the perception of the employees regarding the introduction of the business segmentation process?           |
|     |  |
|     | To what extent did the Senior Management influence the determination of methods to be used in the implementation of business segmentation process? |
|     |  |

| (12) To what extent has the introduction of business segmentation benefited employees |
|---|
| in terms of talent management?  |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
| (13) To what extent has the Business segmentation improved the efficiency of the      |
| brokerage operations?   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
| (14) Do you think that the introduction of Business Segmentation has benefited the    |
| Company?  |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
| (15) What are the obstacles that you have experienced during the implementation       |
| process?  |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |
| (16) Are there any measures/strategies which have been put in place to:               |
| (a) Provide feed back on the working of the new business segments?                    |
|   |
|   |
|   |
|   |

| (b) Determine corrective measures to be taken in case of deviation?            |
|--|
|  |
|  |
|  |
| (17) To what extent has the perception of the following stakeholders about the |
| performance of the company changed since the introduction of the new business  |
| segments?  |
| (a) Shareholders   |
| (b) Customers  |
| (c) Internal process   |
| (d) Employees  |
|  |

Thank you for your time and participation in this study.